KINGSTON PLANNING BOARD 1 2 **APRIL 18, 2023** PUBLIC HEARING 3 **MINUTES** 4 Ms. Merrill called the meeting to order at **6:46 PM**; there were no challenges to the legality 5 6 of the meeting. 7 8 **MEMBERS PRESENT:** 9 Lynne Merrill, Chair Peter Bakie Rob Tersolo Robin Duguay, Vice Chair Peter Coffin 10 11 Chris Bashaw, BOS Representative Steve Padfield 12 **ALSO PRESENT:** 13 Glenn Greenwood, Town Planner 14 Dennis Quintal, Town Engineer 15 Robin Carter, Land Use Admin. 16 17 18 Ms. Merrill declared a quorum present and introduced the Planning Board ("PB" or "Board"). 19 20 21 **PUBLIC HEARINGs** (in these minutes) Housing Support, Inc., 186 Main St., R34-21 Pg. 2 Lone Tree Summer Camp, LLC, 12 West Shore Pk Rd., R10-10 Pg. 14 Northeast Atlantic Properties, LLC, Patriot Park, 63 Rte. 125, R9-89 Pg. 10 Summit Distributing, LLC, Kingston Crossing, Inc., 249 Rte. 125, R40-15&16 Pg. 1 22 23

24 Request for a continuation to May 16, 2023:

25 Summit Distributing, LLC - Kingston Crossing, Inc.

249 N.H. Route 125, Map R40 Lots15 & 16

262728

29

30

Site Plan Review Application & Lot Line Adjustment Application

The applicant is seeking Planning Board approval for a proposed retail motor fuel outlet having a quick service restaurant with drive-through window and gasoline station. The applicant is also requesting a lot line adjustment between lots 15 & 16 on Map R40.

31 32 33

34

35

36

Ms. Merrill read the letter from Summit Distributing, Inc., dated April 18, 2023, requesting a continuance for this hearing until a decision can be rendered from the ZBA. The applicant stated that the Town Planner has requested that the applicant seek a Special Exception from the Kingston Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) for a gas station within the CII District.

373839

40

41

42

Motion made by Mr. Bashaw to continue the hearing for Summit Distributing, LLC, 249 N.H. Route 125, Map R40 Lots 15 &16 to the Planning Board public hearing at 6:45 PM on May 16, 2023. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

- Continued Hearing (1st hearing was on February 21, 2023, request for a continuance was requested on March 21, 2023 to the April 18, 2023 public hearing).
- 45 Housing Support Inc.
- 46 **186 Main Street**
- 47 Map R34 Lot 21

Site Plan Review Application

<Board note: This hearing began at 6:49 PM.>

50 51 52

53

54

55

Ms. Merrill read the legal notice for this hearing. This is a **site plan review application** for the total renovation of the existing structure to create four (4) one (1) bedroom housing units, including a small addition at the rear. Also, the extension of the right-side driveway to accommodate one handicapped parking space and three extra parking spaces at the rear.

56 57 58

Ms. Merrill explained the hearing process.

59 60

Applicant: Paula Newcomb, Executive Director of Housing Support, Inc.

61 62

63

64

65

Ms. Newcomb gave an overview of Housing Support, Inc. and said they are a non-profit organization for veterans and other disabled folks in communities in Merrimack Valley and hope to expand to Rockingham County. Others present on behalf of Housing Support, Inc.: Attorney Kevin Baum of Hoefle, Phoenix, Gormley & Roberts, PLLC; Bill Hall, Engineer Civil Design Consultants, Inc.; and Christopher Novelli of n3 Architecture.

66 67 68

• Ms. Newcomb summarized the status of the project and what was requested from the prior hearing on February 21, 2023.

69 70 71

 Mr. Novelli mentioned that the survey has been completed and is stamped by a Licensed Civil Engineer, and

72 73 74 • the building plans have been put back to the original plan that was previously approved by the HDC. The size of the units are all over 600 sq. ft.

75 76 **Town Planner comment(s):** Mr. Greenwood read his comments from the April 18, 2023 memo to the Planning Board (copy available in the Planning Board office).

77 78 79

Town Engineer comment(s): Mr. Quintal read his comments from the April 14, 2023 letter to the Planning Board (copy available in the Planning Board office).

80 81

Department comment(s):

- Code enforcement Second floor needs 2 exit doors per unit and egress windows in bedrooms. Make sure the third floor are not bedrooms.
- 84858687
- Fire Comply with NFPA. Comply with Town of Kingston Rules & Regulations. Note-Article 301 Building and Lots and 301.5 Rented Apartments: Any building to be erected or altered for use as rented apartments, shall have minimum of two (2) readily accessible exits (windows excluded) from each apartment. Every

- apartment to be used by a single family shall have a minimum living area of 600 square feet per unit.
 - Historic District Commission (HDC) The change from a two-family to 4 apartments means that 8 parking spaces are required. Four mailboxes need to be placed, HDC review required. Two apartments are now on the 2nd & 3rd floors w/ only 1 egress shown on the plan. If 2nd egress (required) will be some sort of exterior escape it will have a visual impact and require HDC review and the changes to the barn raises many questions.
 - Public Works Proposed driveway would violate setbacks and require Planning Board approval. Shading indicates one material (Bit Concrete), but plan indicates gravel parking spots. Please clarify boundaries if both. Questioned snow storage. Will the noted poorly drained soils handle the runoff from the driveway? No catch basin is noted on driveway leading to detention basin.

Board comment(s):

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

95 96

97

98

99 100

101102

103

104

105

106

107108

109

110

111

112

113

114

115

116

117

118

119 120

121

122

123

124

125

126 127

128

129

130

131

132

133

Mr. Coffin brought up Mr. Greenwood's comments on snow removal (#7 on his April 18 memo) and Mr. Quintal's comments regarding stormwater runoff and coverage percentage noted on #5 and #9 of his letter dated 04/14/2023. Mr. Hall explained that the impervious area is about 6,300 sq. ft. on the lot which is approximately 28% coverage and believes up to 35% Stormwater improvement is allowed which they are looking to provide in the basin. Mr. Coffin asked for further explanation of the exfiltration. Mr. Hall explained that when they were looking to do the calculation to take exfiltration into account, they were conservative in taking just the storage basin to show storing the volume that would be needed. They do believe that it will infiltrate into the ground but haven't done a test yet on the rate it would infiltrate into the ground. They conservatively assumed that there would be zero groundwater computations. Trying to keep it simple with an earth berm that is about a foot and a half (1 ½) feet deep or so. Mr. Quintal commented that the detention basins being built and then machines track over them and pack them down so details would need to be on the plans to verify that there would be an infiltration or exploration by scarifying the bottom of the basin or by adding layers of sand or stone. The bottom of the basin is close to the grade and is going to be significantly above the water table.

Mr. Tersolo asked the applicant how they plan on addressing the 2nd floor egress. Mr. Novelli said that the bathroom is in the rear and may be able to use that space. They understand that any changes to the exterior have to go back to the HDC. The 3rd floor is part of the 2nd floor unit. Ms. Merrill asked if the windows for the bedrooms on the 2nd floor meet code for egress. Mr. Novelli said they do and commented that the egress size is 20"x24".

Ms. Merrill asked what their plan is for addressing the Town requirement for eight (8) parking spaces when there are only four (4) on the plan. Ms. Newcomb said that they do not believe they need eight (8) parking spaces. There are four (4) one-bedroom units that will be occupied by one (1) individual which is the nature of the program. From experience from their other programs, most occupants are older and do not drive; only four (4) spaces will be needed. Ms. Newcomb further explained that there are two (2) long driveways in

front of the building and in most places, people can park in their driveways, if necessary cars could be parked along the driveway. Ms. Merrill asked Ms. Newcomb if they are requesting a waiver from the Regulation and Ms. Newcomb replied, yes. Mr. Greenwood asked Ms. Newcomb if it is a requirement of the program to limit the parking to one (1) person. Ms. Newcomb responded, yes. Mr. Greenwood asked if this was noted in the tenant leases. Ms. Newcomb responded, yes. Mr. Greenwood mentioned that Town Counsel gave guidance that the leases will need to be for a minimum of a year. The units would be one-bedroom, single occupancy units and that may be reason for the Board to consider granting a waiver for parking. Mr. Coffin brought up that in considering limiting parking to below what is normally required, there would be zero spaces available for visitors, workers, etc. He said there is no public transportation in the area. Ms. Newcomb explained again that there are two (2) very long driveways in the front and that every house on the street parks in their driveways. She said they agreed to extend the driveway and put additional space in the back at the request of the neighbors who did not want to see the parking in the front. There really is additional parking in the front driveway should a visiting nurse need parking. Ms. Merrill brought up that extra parking is not designated on the plan, and it should be. Attorney Baum pointed out that there is plenty of space for parking on the plan and can certainly designate some area for temporary parking and add that to the plan. He said that they would still be looking for a waiver for the eight (8) spaces because it is not necessary for the program. Mr. Baum spoke to Mr. Quintal's comments on the driveway about getting neighbor approval (item #2 on Mr. Quintal's letter). He noted that this is an existing driveway that has been extended. Mr. Baum said that he doesn't believe that neighbor approval is warranted or permissible and mentioned that they are happy to work with the neighbors because they know there is some opposition but cannot give a neighbor the power over an applicant's application. The applicant is seeking a waiver for this too. The applicant/team can talk about putting in some landscaping or additional protections, but the driveway is a pre-existing driveway. Ms. Merrill mentioned that the driveway went a certain distance and ended before the building began, therefore, there wasn't the narrow passageway beside the buildings to get to the back. The narrow passageway is more of the concern because perhaps snow may be pushed onto the neighbors' land which is not allowed. Ms. Merrill asked if there was a plan to keep snow on this property. Mr. Novelli mentioned the idea of possibly having a fence installed but would have to discuss any thoughts and details with the applicant. Mr. Bashaw brought up that the driveway and that it is a complicated issue in that the Town does not define what a driveway is. The State definition he was able to find is "The point of entry to the property through the right of way regardless of its configuration once it enters through the right of way". Mr. Bashaw also had concern with the snow removal and that would have to be addressed.

172173174

134

135

136

137

138

139

140

141

142

143

144

145

146

147

148

149 150

151

152153

154

155

156

157

158 159

160

161

162

163

164

165 166

167

168

169

170

171

Public comment(s):

Ms. Merrill opened the floor for public comment at 7:16 PM.

175 176 177

178

Susan Prescott, 50 Little River Road introduced herself and mentioned she is the Chair of the HDC. She had a couple questions. 1) Will there be a fence around the

retaining pond? 2) If the building is sold how will the restriction of four (4) parking spaces be enforced for new owners in the future.

- Attorney Michael Donovan, 52 Church Street, Concord, NH. Representing three abutters Scott and Madelyn Ouellette of 189 Main St., Virginia and Robert Morse of 188 Main St., Jeff and Julie Robie of 184 Main St. *Mr. Donovan provided a copy of his memorandum, dated April 18, 2023, to the Board.* He said that he has a memorandum and list of all the deficiencies in the plan that do not comply, and he has cited the sections of the regulations that apply. He mentioned that Mr. Greenwood and Mr. Quintal touched on some of them, but not all of them. Mr. Donovan stated that he would like to go over each of the several items on his list but cannot do that in 3 minutes. He would like to have it placed on record his objection to the 3-minute limitation because he cannot cover the list of deficiencies on the plan within this time. Mr. Donovan went over some of the points addressed in his memorandum.
 - His clients' request is that the Planning Board not accept jurisdiction over this application and deny it and take it off the agenda until all the deficiencies on the plan and all the other approvals that are required have been met.
 - One of the principal approvals is HDC approval. He noted that the Town Attorney
 has revised her opinion and has advised that the members of the HDC and the PB
 that the impact of the change in use requires approval by the HDC. He noted that
 this point was made at the March 16, 2023 meeting with the Town Attorney and
 that two of his clients were present at the meeting as representatives of the HDC.
 - Changes to the exterior to the site plan require HDC approval and there are going to have to be changes to the plan to deal with the second exit requirement, these are life-safety codes.

Mr. Donovan explained that it is unfair to his clients and the Board to continue when the process to obtain approvals will take some time. If the Board denies this and do not accept jurisdiction and formally vote tonight, his clients are not prejudice from corrections being made to the plans and coming back. Mr. Donovan emphasized that his clients are there because they are in opposition to the application and not because they are opposed to veterans housing. He said they are there because this is an inappropriate overcrowding of a small lot with a change of use that is going to set a terrible precedent in the HD and have a terrible impact on the abutting properties.

Mr. Donovan went over some Town procedural requirements.

- Requires a complete application.
- This property is the Aquifer Protection A District which limits coverage to 15%.
- Soils data is not depicted as part of the drainage study and this is required in three (3) different places in the regulations, wetlands conservation district, stormwater management regulations and the site plan regulations.
- Existing proposed lot coverage information is not shown. It indicates that it is 0.43 acres, which is 28% in the drainage study but is not shown on the plans.
- Solid waste disposal facilities are not shown.
- Dumpsters are not shown on the plan.

228

229

- Not enough parking provided.
- Parking maneuvering requirements are not met.
- Draining from driveways will drain onto Morse and Robie properties. Flow easements have not been provided, and when there is drainage that will go onto a private property there has to be an easement.
- Zoning ordinance limits uses on a lot to single and two-family dwellings.

230231232

233

234

Mr. Donovan mentioned the conflicts clause that is in Town Regulations and State Statutes, that when there is a conflict in the zoning ordinance or regulation the State Law says that the stricter provision governs. Referred to Section 301.1.B which limits housing on a lot to single and two-family dwellings.

235236237

238

239

- Mr. Donovan brought up that waiver requests should be in writing and would like to request copies of the requests when they are available.
- What is the specific program that they are participating in that is going to limit the number of occupants to one (1) person per bedroom.

240241242

243244

245

246

Mr. Donovan brought up again that the Board should not accept jurisdiction and deny it without prejudice until all the items are addressed, including HDC approval. He mentioned that whatever the HDC decides may be appealed to the ZBA. He added, this shouldn't sit on the Planning Board agenda all this time, do the right thing, and don't burden his clients with further meetings until everything is complete. Mr. Donovan did mention that he would like to have an opportunity for a rebuttal to Mr. Baum's comments.

247248249

250

251

252

253

254

255256

257

258

259

260

Stanley Shalett, 3 East Way said he is strongly in favor of this project.

- Brought up that in the ordinance a housing unit remains to be defined.
- Population density would be the same if a family lived in the existing two (2) units as one person living in each of the four (4) units.
- RSA 674.45 enumerates the notion of community values in addition for public purpose. This project does add value to the HD, therefore, is not in violation of RSA 674.45.
- "Change of Use" should not be determined on speculation and subjective opinion.
- Commented that the HDC can consider objectively environmental effects of noise and traffic congestion that may come up for any project, but this project is devoid of these problems.
- Mr. Shalett asked that his letter be put in the record.

261262

Jeff Robie, 184 Main Street -

263264265266267

268

269

- Primary concern is the driveways and that at the end of one of the driveways it
 actually crosses over the property line near the road. So, it is not two (2) feet it is
 actually zero (0) feet. On the south side their foundation is less than ten (10) feet.
 Concerns about the runoff from the driveway. Right now, they do not have flooding
 in their basement, but they do have concerns that if there are changes to the
 driveway that could happen.
- The lot size for 186 and 184 Main Street are fairly small, and the structures take up a good amount of the lot(s).

271 Scott Ouellette, 189 Main Street -

- The size of the lot for 186 Main is a ½ acre lot and the driveways are too close to the sidelines. The house itself is too close to the sideline. It is a grandfathered, pre-existing, non-conforming use.
- Parking and lighting issues have been issues in the past for the two (2) family and now it is being doubled to a four (4) family, which is what the plans shows, it doesn't show four (4) individuals, those issues will double and increase.
- Water run off there are puddles in the spring. The pond in the back is not going to handle the runoff in the front, there are no catch basins or drains to take the water from the front to the back.
- There is a filled-in pool in the back yard and is impervious. This is not shown, and the requirements do not mention this in the drainage report.
- The stormwater plan that is shown is not enough for the aquifer recharge for the site.
- He is not opposed to who lives there, the issue is it is a non-conforming two (2) family and is proposed to be a non-conforming four (4) family and this doesn't match the Town regulations.

Virginia Morse, 188 Main Street, an abutter to 186 Main -

- This area is very wet and said there should be soil types noted on the map.
- The water in the pond in the spring flows into their garden. The water flows toward Greenwood Pond.
- Water in the front of the yard flows toward and under Main Street. This area is always wet. There is a lot of challenge with runoff.
- They do get water in their basement.
- Her house is level to the ground and 186 Main is on a berm, the ground is higher.
- Their house is close to the lot line.

Public comment was closed at 7:45 PM.

Attorney Baum asked if he could speak to some of the comments that have been discussed. The applicant has addressed many of the issues that have come up. They will incorporate the comments discussed tonight from the Town Engineer and Town Planner. They do believe they have provided enough information for the Board to consider accepting jurisdiction. He asked that the Board treat this application like any other application. Mr. Baum mentioned:

- They will put together waivers in writing.
- Some issues raised were the driveway and parking.
- With respect to drainage this will be brought back to their professionals.
- This is construction within an existing building and is not significant.
- This is under site plan review and are addressing neighbor concerns.
- With respect to future owners and the parking. The Board can put in conditions.
 Can provide a copy of the lease with redaction. If a future owner wanted to change it, they would have to go back before the Board.

- With respect to Aquifer Protection, the plan does speak to the 15%. In Zone A that can be increased by 35%, In Zone B 60%, providing you show Stormwater Management.
- He commented that it is clear that some of the neighbors are looking to send this back to HDC. However, what is unfair to everyone is to go back to HDC, come back the Planning Board to make minor changes, then go back to HDC.
- Mr. Baum brought up that he has significant concern about the statement that the HDC approval be appealed to the ZBA. There are existing rules that the appeal period has passed. This is unfair to the applicant to put that burden on them. It is the Planning Boards obligation and fair to provide the applicant a path forward. All the issues can be dealt with by waivers or conditions, if necessary.
- Mr. Baum remarked that in regard to Attorney Donovan's request to rebut, typically the applicant gets the chance to address comments and that's it.

Board comment(s):

- Mr. Bashaw addressed a question to Mr. Greenwood. He looked at the map to verify the 15% for the aquifer in Zone A and asked if this requires a Special Exception that has to go before the ZBA or if this is a waiver requirement. Mr. Greenwood noted it is a requirement for stormwater management. Mr. Coffin mentioned that the 35% requires recharge, not storage, and that is why we have insufficient information. We need a soil analysis; clay doesn't allow recharge. A full plan is needed that can be reviewed by the Town Engineer.
- Mr. Coffin noted that a concern is allowing something to exist doubling the number of units with future possibility that someone may change the lease and not adhere to conditions agreed upon. Mr. Baum spoke and clarified that what he was suggesting was that Board apply conditions that would have to be adhered to and future owners would have to have a similar lease, can have further discussion on how this gets implemented.
- Mr. Coffin brought up another technical aspect of the floor plan, does the 3rd floor sq. ft. living area calculation take into consideration portions that may be less than 5 feet tall, is this considered buildable area. Mr. Novelli said it is not, and the knee walls are shown on the plan. Ms. Merrill explained that the Town used 50% if a cape-like home and has no dormer and if there is a shed dormer on one side it is 75%. Ms. Newcomb informed the Board that the 3rd floor is not converted attic space, it is existing bedrooms. Existing is two (2) 3-bedroom units. She mentioned that with respect to comments about the increase in density for the two (2) units to four (4) units, we are talking about four (4) individuals as opposed to being lived in as two (2) 3-bedroom units. There should be far less density than there is today.
- Mr. Bashaw asked Mr. Greenwood if he felt the plan was complete enough to invoke jurisdiction and continue the process. Mr. Greenwood said, he does.

Mr. Tersolo brought up HDC and zoning for driveways and raised some questions on drainage, ADA compliance, lighting, and surfaces.

Ms. Merrill said that if the Board decides to approve a conditional approval, Town Legal Counsel has advised the Board that it can be approved under the condition that the applicant has to go back before the HDC for the change of use. Necessary approvals from local boards and state agencies would be required.

Mr. Coffin said there may be a timeline issue if the Board invokes jurisdiction because we don't have enough information on the setbacks and the recharge issue. We don't have Counsel's advice on some of the other issues that were brought up tonight.

Mr. Greenwood said that his discussions with Counsel that there hasn't been any statements that setback issues of the Board initiating. Matters being brought up are existing circumstances. Mr. Coffin commented that the driveway in the back is a new proposal.

The applicant has asked that the Planning Board waive the \$5,000 fee and reduce it to \$250 (904.5,B.). The \$250 amount was not accepted by the Board.

 Motion made by Mr. Bakie to reduce the Professional Review fee from \$5,000 to \$2,000. Seconded by, Mr. Coffin. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

Ms. Merrill asked if the Board would like to invoke jurisdiction. Mr. Tersolo expressed that there is still a lot of questions that may complicate the decision-making process for the Planning Board; and there are several things the applicant needs to complete, like the drainage plan. Ms. Duguay commented that the Town Planner has advised the Board the application/plan is complete enough to accept jurisdiction and noted that the Board has accepted jurisdiction for plans that had more conditions to meet than this.

Motion made by Ms. Duguay to invoke jurisdiction on the proposal by Housing Support, Inc. at 186 Main Street, Tax Map R34 Lot 21. Seconded by, Mr. Bakie. A vote was taken; Mr. Coffin and Mr. Tersolo opposed; the motion passed. (5-2-0)

Mr. Greenwood will compile a punch list of what Housing Support, Inc. needs to complete and send a copy of the letter from Attorney Donovan to Town Counsel. [Al.1-04.18.2023].

Mr. Donovan asked that a copy of any waiver request provided to the Board from the applicant be provided to him.

The Board has requested a site walk. A site walk is scheduled at 186 Main Street on May 13, 2023 at 8:00 AM. This is a public meeting, and the public is welcome to be at the site walk.

Ms. Carter to send out a reminder and post a notice. [Al.2-04.18.2023]

Motion made by Ms. Duguay to continue the hearing for Housing Support Inc. at 186 Main St. to the May 16, 2023 PB public hearing, with all required information and plans due to the Planning Board by noon on May 4, 2023. Seconded by, Mr. Coffin. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

<Board note: This hearing ended at 8:25 PM.>

412 <The Board took a 5-minute break.> Ms. Merrill called the hearing back to order at 8:30
413 PM.

- 415 New Hearing:
- 416 Northeast Atlantic Properties, LLC
- 417 Patriot Park
- **63 Rte. 125**
- 419 Map R9 Lot 89

Amended Condominium Plan

<Board note: This hearing began at 8:30 PM.>

The applicant would like to convert the existing building and new building to be constructed into commercial condominium units.

Applicant: Tim Lavelle of James M. Lavelle Associates represented Northeast Atlantic, Properties. Travis McConnell of Northeast Atlantic Properties, LLC was present.

Mr. Coffin recused himself from this hearing.

 Mr. Lavelle explained that what the applicant is proposing to do is change the ownership to condos. They are not proposing to change the site plan that was already approved by the Planning Board on June 12, 2007. The property was developed in 2009. The back building (Phase I), including parking, drainage and septic system is complete. The property has been graded. There are two (2) septic systems on the plan, one is already installed. What they are proposing to do is finish the plan, finish Phase II and put in the new ownership.

Town Engineer comment(s): Mr. Quintal read his comments from the April 14, 2023 letter to the Planning Board (copy available in the Planning Board office). Mr. Quintal informed the Board, applicant, public that the original site plans were done and approved before he was working for the Town, so he did not take part in that process.

Town Planner comment(s): Mr. Greenwood read his comments from the April 18, 2023 memo to the Planning Board (copy available in the Planning Board office). Mr. Greenwood noted that the Amended Condominium Plans were recorded a few months ago. Mr. Greenwood notified Mr. McConnell that this is something that needed PB approval.

Board comment(s): Ms. Merrill asked the Board if they had any comments. There were none.

452 453

451

Department comment(s):

454 Fire – Buildings on the site-Comply with NFPA, Knox Box, NFPA 72 fire alarm 455 system, Comply with Town of Kingston Rules and Regulations. 456

457 458

459

460

461

462

463

464

465

Mr. Lavelle commented:

- They are not changing anything from the original NH DOT permit.
- Proposed uses are all the same, nothing has changed.
- They are not proposing to tie in the disposal system to the existing system. Proposing to pave over the existing system. He likes the idea of having it inspected before paving over it, however, he said it doesn't need to be inspected for flow. Sheet 4 of the site plan shows two (2) systems under the parking lot.
- This site has been constructed and all the drainage is in, catch basin is there.
- This site was prepared for the new building. Will not be disturbing the well.

466 467 468

Mr. Lavelle said that they will need to resubmit a request for a new subsurface approval because the current one is from 2009. He plans on checking the tank size for the flow.

469 470 471

472

473 474

475

Mr. Lavelle commented that the site is complete, but now building Phase II and will be changing formal ownership. Mr. Lavelle explained that they were advised by applicant's legal counsel to have new plans prepared but didn't realize they had to come back before the PB because the way the Kingston Zoning Ordinance is written. Further advice was they didn't expect any limited common area outside the building because of the parking spaces.

476 477 478

479 480

481

482

Mr. McConnell explained how he learned he needed to go before the PB again. He came in to get his building permit for the new building. There was a discrepancy if the building was two (2) stories according to the site plan, it was determined it was. The new condo plan is what triggered questions from the Town. He said that all the issues being raised were addressed back when he first came to the Board in 2008/2009. They are simply just changing the way the buildings will be owned.

483 484 485

Ms. Merrill asked if there were questions from the Board. There was none.

486 487

488

489

490

Ms. Merrill read an abutter letter submitted to the Planning Board from Peter and Eleanore Coffin, dated April 13, 2023.

Areas of concern: 1) dumpster enclosure was not built, and the dumpster is currently in a parking spot, and not screened; and 2) landscaping plan for the buffer zone was never fully executed or maintained.

491 492 493

494

495

Mr. McConnell said that these items were addressed during Phase I. Mr. McConnell said that the buffer was put in, but they had to alter the plan because of the rock there. It is hard to plant on rock. He said that he had to take care of these items as part of getting

the occupancy permit for the first building. Ms. Merrill noted that the dumpster location is on the original site plan.

Ms. Merrill asked if the condo docs have been sent to the Town's attorney for review. They have not.

Motion made by Mr. Bakie to submit the Condo Docs-Declaration of Patriot Park Condominium (04/2020), and Amendment Number One to the Declaration and By-Laws of Patriot Park Condominium (02/2023) to the Town Attorney for approval. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (6-0-0) (Mr. Coffin was recused from this hearing.)

Motion made by Mr. Bashaw **to invoke jurisdiction**. **Seconded** by, Ms. Duguay. **A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (6-0-0)** (Mr. Coffin was recused from this hearing.)

The applicant has requested a waiver for the reduction of the Professional Review cost from \$5,000 to \$1,000 (904.5,B.).

Motion made by Mr. Bashaw to grant the waiver request to reduce the Engineering Fee (Professional Review) to \$1,000 from the \$5,000 normally required. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (6-0-0) (Mr. Coffin was recused from this hearing.)

Board discussion: Mr. Bashaw commented that the explanations granted by the applicant and his representative are sufficient. He doesn't believe they should need a revised DOT permit or alteration of terrain permits. He does agree that it is probably in the applicant's best interest to have the septic system inspected before they pave over it but should not be a requirement by the Board. Mr. Bakie mentioned that the recommendations by the Fire Department comment should be included in any Conditional Approval, and that this is an area that would also be addressed when the applicant applies for a building permit.

Mr. Bashaw asked the applicant if they had any objections to the items outlined by Mr. Quintal or Mr. Greenwood. He realizes the applicant has already spoken to a few of them. Mr. Lavelle discussed his objections.

#2 on Mr. Quintal's letter re: Existing Conditions Plan. There is an existing condition plan on file. It was not included in this package because this plan was for the Amended Condo Plan.

All the drainage and grading is done. All they have to do now is put in the foundation for the new building.

Mr. Merrill asked Mr. Quintal if he had any further comments. Mr. Quintal brought up again that he was not involved in the original design. He was looking at everything for the first time. He noted that 50% of the site is impervious, which is a lot, and it is draining down into a fire pond and he is not sure if that is adequate. Mr. Lavelle mentioned the fire pond is also a retention pond. Mr. Quintal based his comments on reviewing the plans for the

first time. He explained that the existing conditions plan is a plan that they could developed fairly easily, it shouldn't be that difficult. The design of the septic system is something the applicant said they would be doing. Mr. Quintal mentioned that DOT conditions and philosophy have changed over the years, and a call to the local State Engineer to see if they have any concerns and/or if a new permit would be required. Mr. Bashaw said that if the applicant was making fundamental changes to the already approved plan, then yes, then requirements would have to be looked into further and be held to today's standards if they have changed. In looking at the previously approved site plan and the condo plan there wasn't substantial changes to scrutinize the condo plan and be forced to be held to a higher standard than what has already been approved. Mr. Quintal said that was apparently approved by DOT years ago and unless the applicant expanded the change the DOT would probably not say anything. Mr. Lavelle said this is a very straight section of the road.

Public comment(s):

542

543

544

545

546

547

548

549

550

551

552

553

554 555

556

557 558

559

560 561

562

563

564

565

566

567

568

569

570

571

572

573 574

575 576

577

578

579

580

581

582

583

584

585 586 Ms. Merrill opened the floor for public comment at 9:00 PM.

Mr. Coffin came to the floor as a member of the public. He explained that the Amended Condominium Plan does not show a space for the dumpster. Mr. Lavelle spoke and said that the dumpster is shown on the original site plan, and the Amended Condominium Plan is being provided to change the form of ownership. Ms. Merrill said that we are discussing two different plans, one is the original site plan that will continue to be followed showing where the dumpster should be, and other is the Condominium Plan which is just the ownership plan. Mr. Lavelle recognized the dumpster enclosure is not in the location noted on the site plan and that will be taken care of in Phase II. Mr. Coffin asked if the applicant had plans to complete the landscaping. Mr. McConnell said that things that have been planted have been undone, however, before he got the occupancy permit there was a walk around with the Town and a few things on the plan had to be changed and then he was given his occupancy permit. Mr. Coffin said that the landscaping still needs to be addressed because it is non-compliant. He mentioned that the proposed signs should be on the plan. Driveways should be paved before being given final approval.

Public comment was closed at 9:05 PM.

Motion made by Mr. Bashaw to offer Conditional Approval of the Amended Condominium Plan (2/17/2023) with the following conditions: 1) requirements for the new septic design for the new building must be met, 2) they comply with the dumpster location and enclosure that was referenced on the original approved Site Plan (approved 06/12/2007 by the PB), 3) any signs must meet the Kingston Town Sign Ordinance and be brought into compliance, 4 Condominium Documents to be submitted to Town Counsel for review and approval. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (6-0-0) (Mr. Coffin was recused from this hearing.)

Amended motion made by Mr. Bashaw to include that the timeline for Conditions for Approval must be met prior to the time of occupancy being granted. **Seconded** by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (6-0-0) (Mr. Coffin was recused from this hearing.)

<Board note: This hearing ended at 9:10 PM.>

591 592

<Mr. Coffin rejoined the meeting.>

593 594

595 **New Hearing:**

Lone Tree Summer Camp, LLC12 West Shore Park Road

12 West Shore Park Road Map R10 Lot 10

598

599 600

Subdivision and Residential Condominium Application

<Board note: This hearing began at 9:10 PM.>

601 602 603

Ms. Merrill read the legal notice for this hearing.

604 605

The intent of this project is to subdivide a 127+/- acre parcel, creating two (2) new house lots to have two (2) unit condominium residential building on each new lot.

606 607 608

Applicant: Eric Mitchell of ECM & Associates, Inc. spoke on behalf of the applicant.

- 609 610
- The existing lot is 127 +/- acres with a 73-acre conservation easement on it and has an existing house on it.
 Want to subdivide two (2) new house lots with frontage on West Shore Park Rd.

611612613

• Want to subdivide two (2) new house lots with frontage on West Shore Park Rd. and build two (2), 2-unit townhouse condominiums on each lot. The remaining lot will be 122 acres and retain the existing house.

614

• The zoning is RR AQ.

615

• The 2-lot subdivision has been sent to DES for subdivision approval and separate condominium subdivision approval.

616 617

• Requesting five (5) waivers:

618 619 1) To waive the requirement for a Mandatory Preliminary Review.
 To allow the scaled sheet 1 to be 1 inch is 200 feet to fit the remainder of lot 10

620 621

o To show NHDES approval for the submission as they are pending.

622 623 To provide only one test pit per new lot.
To allow minimal 15 to 25 percent slopes to be included in the buildable area calculations.

624 625

Provided a wetlands assessment on the site (report dated 03/16/2023).
 Draft Condominium docs have been provided.

628

629 630 **Town Engineer comment(s):** Mr. Quintal read his comments from the April 14, 2023 letter to the Planning Board (copy available at the Planning Board office).

635

636

Town Planner comment(s): Mr. Greenwood read his comments from the April 18, 2023 memo to the Planning Board (copy available at the Planning Board office). Mr. Greenwood noted that there are five (5) waivers versus the four (4) noted in his comments.

637638639

Department comment(s):

640 641 Public Works: 20' Easement for ROW needed. Ask applicant to please stop plowing snow across the road intersection.

642 643

644

645

646

647

648

649

650

651

652

653

654

655

656

657

658

659

660

661

Board comment(s):

Mr Coffin co

- Mr. Coffin asked for clarification from Mr. Quintal on item #4 referenced in his letter.
- Mr. Bakie asked the applicant why there was only one (1) test pit done when the Town requires two (2). Mr. Mitchell commented that the state only requires one (1) and that it was an oversight on his part that the Town required two (2). Mr. Mitchell said that both the test pits for each lot were the same. If the Board wants to request another one be done, they will do that. Ms. Merrill said the test pits do also need to be witnessed by the Town of Kingston Health Officer. Mr. Quintal brought up that the reason he didn't have an objection to only one (1) being done is because the soil map shows very good grade of soil which covers the whole property. He said the reason we have two (2) test pits is to verify soil type, but the whole lot is basically canton soil and didn't show any ledge. Mr. Greenwood commented that he looks at the plans from a planner's perspective and not an engineer and that this is different than what the Town rules ask for two (2) test pits. He said that Mr. Quintals knowledge of the soil types makes it seem like a legitimate request. Mr. Greenwood mentioned that the Board could consider a waiver based on the remarks from Mr. Quintal. Mr. Mitchell informed the Board that a site-specific soil survey has been done and the SES soil map shows that all the soils are canton soils 03 and the site-specific soil map verifies that all months are dry and free draining.

662 663 664

665

666

667

668

669 670

671

Mr. Tersolo asked if Town Counsel has reviewed the easement from the United States of America/Boy Scouts of America that comes along this property. Mr. Towne said that the proposed subdivision lots are not located in or near the area that is part of the conservation easement. Mr. Tersolo said that the easement covers more than just acreage in the conservation easement and is extremely inclusive of other details. He suggested that Town Counsel take a look at the easement. Mr. Greenwood mentioned that he has not reviewed the easement. Mr. Mitchell shared that his office did the search work for the easement, and it is two (2) different parcels of approximately 30-acres each. The middle is 127 acres and is not part of the easement.

672 673 674

Ms. Merrill asked if the Board had any other comments.

675 676

677

678

Mr. Quintal wanted to clarify the driveway requirements and referred to the Driveway Permit ordinance, Article 901.1,C.,5. It reads, "In order to minimize the number of driveways along town roads, shared driveways shall be encouraged when deemed

appropriate by the Planning Board for adjacent sites. No more than two driveways, entrances, exits, or approaches will be allowed to any one parcel of land". He explained that there is probably plenty of room along West Shore Pk Rd for driveways, but looking at this ordinance it says no more than two on a piece of property to start with and common driveways are encouraged.

683 684 685

686

687

688

689

690

679

680

681

682

Mr. Bashaw brought up that at one time there was discussion and public comment about violation of compliance activities taking place on the property and asked if there was ever any resolution/conclusion on this. Ms. Merrill said that this went to the BOS. Mr. Towne responded that he received some visits from the Town that raised some questions. He did speak with the BOS and sent a follow up email with an itemized list of answers to their concerns. He mentioned that some of the concerns raised were happening on other properties.

691 692 693

Public comment(s):

Ms. Merrill opened the floor for public comment at 9:40 PM.

694 695 696

Jan Hanson, 4 Merrill Avenue -

697 698 699 • Is there any plans for more subdivision on this lot. Will they be sold and not used for rental properties? Mr. Bashaw stated the Board can ask but they can't demand these types of answers.

700 701 The Board informed Ms. Hanson that the subdivision regulations are on the Town website.

702703704

Ms. Merrill noted that the remaining frontage shown on West Shore Park Rd. is 398 feet, which includes the road into the camp. You are only allowed one home every two-hundred feet and there is already one there and there is wetlands. Unless they decide to look into putting a road in and developing the whole property.

706 707 708

705

Sandra Maida, 10 Concannon Road -

709 710 711

712

 Ms. Maida shared with the Board that she has been hiking at Lone Tree for over 15 years. She had permission from the previous owners to hike there and after it was sold, and the current owner has given her permission to hike there also.

713 714

715

 Ms. Maida was at the BOS meeting when they were discussing things going on at the property (skinny dipping) and explained that it was not happening at this property. There was also blame that there was an arrest at the property, and again it wasn't this property.

716 717

 They have been a good neighbor and what they are doing is necessary for expense reasons.

718 719 720

Vern Soehner, 8 Merrill Avenue -

721

Said that Lone Tree is a good neighbor.

722 723 Mr. Soehner wanted to see the plan and where the subdivision was being proposed.

724

Public comment was closed at 9:45 PM.

Mr. Mitchell said that in looking at the comments provided in the Town Planner and Town Engineer review letters, he is confident that they can address and has no issues with them.

Motion made by Mr. Coffin to accept jurisdiction on Tax Map R10 Lot 10 as plans submitted. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

Motion made by Ms. Duguay to waive the requirement for Mandatory Preliminary Review based on advice from both the Town Engineer and Town Planner. Seconded by, Mr. Coffin. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

Motion made by Mr. Coffin based on the advice by the Town Engineer to allow the scaled sheet 1 to be 1 inch is 200 feet to fit the remainder of lot 10 on the plan. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

 Motion made by Mr. Coffin based on the advice of the Town Engineer and Town Planner to move to show the NHDES approvals for submission because they are pending. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

Motion made by Mr. Bakie to accept the one test pit per new lot based on the recommendation from the Town Engineer. Seconded by, Mr. Padfield. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

Motion made by Mr. Coffin that because the minimal location is steeper than 15% slope and based on the Town Engineer's recommendation that the Board move to allow minimal 15 to 25 percent slopes to be included in the buildable area turndown calculations. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

Motion made by Ms. Duguay to grant Conditional Approval for the submitted subdivision plan dated 3/15/2034 for Map R10 Lot 10, 12 West Shore Park Road, Kingston, NH 1) with the conditions detailed in the letter dated April 14, 2023 from the Town Engineer, Dennis Quintal 2) as well as the comments outlined in the memo from the Town Planner, Glenn Greenwood dated April 18, 2023, 3) Condominium Documents to be submitted to Town Counsel for review and approval, 4) the 20 foot easement R.O.W. for maintenance by Public Works be added to the plan, 5) and the five (5) waivers that were granted be added to the plan. Seconded by, Mr. Padfield. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

Motion made by Mr. Bakie that all conditions be met within 90 days. Seconded by, Mr. Coffin. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-0-0)

<Board note: This hearing ended at 9:55 PM.>

BOARD BUSINESS

770771772

773

774

Approval of the March 21, 2023 Minutes:

Corrections: Line 292, change seven (7) to two (2); Line 455 add an "" to State's.

Motion made by Mr. Coffin to accept the 03/21/2023 minutes as amended. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed.

775 776 777

Correspondence:

778 779 780 Ms. Merrill recused herself on this matter and handed over the meeting to Robin Duguay, Vice Chair. Letter from Daniel Mastroianni and Deborah J. Millette, dated April 17, 2023, of 191 Main St, Kingston regarding 14 Church Street and proposed changes to the commercial building.
 This is a request that should be addressed by the HDC and the Building

781 782 783

Department.

784 785

 Bedroom count questions should be addressed to the Assessing and Building Department.

786 787

Motion made by Mr. Bashaw that no further action is required from the Planning Board. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (6-0-0) (Ms. Merrill was recused from this matter.)

788 789 790

<Ms. Merrill rejoined the meeting.>

791 792

 Letter from Kyleigh Delos Reyes dated April 13, 2023, of 12 Bartlett Street inquiring on requirements to look into opening a hair salon business in her home.

794 795

793

This request falls under the Home Occupation Ordinance.

795 796 797

 Zoning is Rural Residential Aquifer and will need to be considered during obtaining approvals/permits.

798 799 Bedroom count questions should be addressed to the Assessing and Building Department.

801 802

800

Motion made by Mr. Coffin that no further action is required from the Planning Board.
Seconded by, Mr. Bakie. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed. (7-

803 804 805 0-0)

Board Business Cont.

807 808

806

• **266 Rte. 125** - Mr. Quintal said that Civil Construction Management, Inc. received a request to review the septic plans for 266 Rte. 125. He asked the Board if they had any issues with this. The Board did not.

809 810

Motion made by Ms. Duguay **to adjourn the meeting at 10:25 PM. Seconded** by, Mr. Padfield. **A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed.**

811812813

Next Public Meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, May 2, 2023. Subject to change.

815	
816	04/18/2023 Minutes accepted as amended on May 16, 2023:
817	Pg. 1, line 5 – change Mr. Coffin to Ms. Merrill
818	 Pg. 15, line 640 – add the department name – Public Works